
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date: Monday 19 April 2021

Time: 10.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: This meeting will take place virtually via Microsoft Teams
Click here to view the meeting.

Membership
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Ram Lakha OBE (Vice-Chair) Coventry City Council
Councillor Ahmad Bostan Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Alan Butt City of Wolverhampton Council
Sean Farnell Coventry & Warwickshire LEP
Councillor Michael Gough Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Fred Grindrod Birmingham City Council
Councillor Christine Martin Staffordshire Non-Constituent Authorities
Councillor Alexander Phillips Shropshire Council
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council
Councillor Alan Taylor Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor David Thain Worcestershire Non-Constituent Local Authorities
Councillor Gurmeet Singh Sohal Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council

Quorum for this meeting shall be nine members. Of those, at least one member must be in 
attendance from five different constituent councils. 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Tanya Patel, Governance Services Officer
Telephone 0121 214 7689
Email Tanya.Patel@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/WestMidlandsCA


Agenda
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages Time

Meeting Business Items

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None 10:00

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interests they have in an 
item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of it 
was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or £40 
(hospitality).

Chair None

3.  Minutes - 4 March 2021 Chair 1 - 8

4.  Matters Arising Chair None

5.  Chair's Remarks Chair None

6.  Forward Plan Tanya Patel 9 - 10

Business Items for Noting/Approval

7.  Internal Audit Annual Report 2020 - 2021 Peter Farrow 11 - 22 10:20

8.  Draft Annual Governance Statement Tim Martin 23 - 36 10:40

9.  External Audit Plan Grant Thornton To Follow 11:10

10.  Exclusion of the Public and Press
To pass the following resolution: 
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 the press and public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business as they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as specified in 
the paragraphs of that act. 

Chair None

11.  Investigations and Whistleblowing Update Tim Martin Verbal 
Report

11:30

Date of Next Meeting

12.  Monday 28 June 2021 at 10.00am Chair None 11:35



Page 1 of 7

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Thursday 4 March 2021 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Ram Lakha OBE (Vice-Chair) Coventry City Council
Councillor Ahmad Bostan Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Alan Butt City of Wolverhampton Council
Sean Farnell Coventry & Warwickshire LEP
Councillor Michael Gough Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Christine Martin Staffordshire Non-Constituent Authorities
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council
Councillor Alan Taylor Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor David Thain Worcestershire Non-Constituent Local 

Authorities

In Attendance
Fiona Bebbington West Midlands Combined Authority
Louise Cowen West Midlands Combined Authority
Jason Danbury West Midlands Combined Authority
Dan Essex West Midlands Combined Authority
Peter Farrow City of Wolverhampton Council
Julia Goldsworthy West Midlands Combined Authority
Victoria Harman West Midlands Combined Authority
Linda Horne West Midlands Combined Authority
Wajid Hussain Midland Metro Limited 
Sandra Kalyan City of Wolverhampton Council 
Helen Lillington Grant Thornton
Tim Martin West Midlands Combined Authority
Loraine Quibell West Midlands Combined Authority
Joti Sharma West Midlands Combined Authority
Rachel Teoh West Midlands Combined Authority

Item
No.

Title

54.  Apologies for Absence
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Fred Grindrod 
(Birmingham). 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 7

55.  Minutes - 18 January 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 2021 were approved, subject 
to the addition of Councillor June Tandy’s apologies for absence from the 
meeting and the correction of a minor typographical error within minute no. 
51. 

56.  Matters Arising
(a) Recruitment of New Independent Member/Chair 

Following the Chair’s announcement that he would be stepping down 
from his role as independent member/chair in September he 
requested that the committee be informed of the process and timeline 
for recruitment of a new independent member/chair. 

The Governance Services Manager informed the committee of the 
process and timeline of recruitment which had been put into place. He 
expected the independent member/chair to be appointed at the 
WMCA Board meeting in July, which would allow for a transition 
leading up to the meeting of the committee planned for September. 
The Chair requested that a further update be provided at the meeting 
of the committee on 28 June. 

(b) Overview & Scrutiny Committee Mayoral Question Time: Budget - 
Response from the Mayor to Recommendations Presented to the 
WMCA Board on 13 November 2020  
The committee received a copy of the Mayoral response to Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee following its Q&A session. Following comments 
from committee members, it was agreed that the Director of Finance 
would ensure the committee had access to regular financial 
monitoring information, and the Director of Strategy would provide a 
half-yearly update against the WMCA’s annual delivery plan.  

57.  Forward Plan
The committee considered the plan of items to be reported to future 
meetings. The Chair requested that the Chief Executive be invited to a future 
meeting of the committee and provide an update on the Business 
Transformation Programme. The Director of Finance also noted that it was 
likely approval of accounts would be undertaken in July and therefore asked 
that a meeting of the committee planned for the 12 July 2021 be put in 
committee members’ diaries. 

Resolved:

(1) The forward plan of items to be reported to future meetings be noted. 

58.  Quarterly Programme Assurance Update Report
The committee considered a report from the Head of Strategic Hub updating 
it on the progress made to date regarding the projects in the Investment 
Programme transitioning into the new Single Assurance Framework 
arrangements, and on the intention to present an assurance update to 
committee on a quarterly basis to provide reassurance that the new 
programme assurance arrangements continued to be embedded and were 
being followed by the WMCA. 

Page 2



Page 3 of 7

The Chair expressed his thanks to the Head of Strategic Hub and the team 
for the work undertaken to strengthen and give confidence around the 
investment decisions and monitoring processes. 

Resolved:

(1) The Programme Assurance Observation report and the assurance 
activity undertaken to date in relation to projects following the Single 
Assurance Framework be noted.

(2) The next steps of the Single Assurance Framework implementation 
and delivery be noted.

(3) Organisation restructure changes that impacted future assurance and 
appraisal arrangements be noted. 

59.  Strategic Risk Register
The committee received an update from the Strategic Risk Manager on the 
developments of the review being undertaken on the strategic risk 
management framework and the strategic risk register. She noted that the 
review was undertaken by a cross directorate working group with the 
strategic risk management framework focusing on three key areas. The 
conclusions of the review would be brought to committee as its June meeting 
for endorsement. The committee also noted that since the last meeting there 
has been no significant material changes to the risk register. 

The committee also received a brief update on the strategic risk relating to 
the UK’s withdrawal from the EU from the Director of Strategic and the 
regional context of this. 

Resolved:

The update provided to committee be noted. 

60.  Assurance Report - Arm's Length Companies: Assurance & 
Governance Arrangements
The committee considered a report on the annual review of the governance 
and assurance arrangements for all of the Arm’s Length Companies where 
the WMCA had a shareholding, along with details of the areas of assurance 
being sought. It was agreed that in future years this would be tabled for the 
January meeting of ARAC. 

The Chair requested that the Head of Governance and Director of Finance 
consider the future arrangements as to whether it is appropriate that ARAC 
continue its oversight of Arm’s Length Companies and to provide an update 
at the next annual review (i.e. the 21/22 position would remain as current). 

Page 3



Page 4 of 7

Following Councillor Ram Lakha’s question as to whether consideration was 
sought from the external auditors, the Director of Finance confirmed that with 
regard to subsidiaries, Grant Thornton required assurance that those 
accounts were unqualified. The external auditor also confirmed that it 
undertook specific procedures around its group audit to confirm satisfaction 
and would continue to follow those in upcoming and future audits. 

Resolved:

(1) It be confirmed that the committee were satisfied with the assurance 
arrangements that had been established and confirmed for all of the 
WMCA’s Arm’s Length Companies and that in future years this report 
would come to ARAC in its January meeting.

(2) The CA would review during 2021 whether ARAC should continue to 
be the body through which Audit, Risk and Assurnace Governance 
should be handled beyond the year 2021/22. 

(3) The structure and purpose of each of the companies, all of which were 
registered and adhered to the requirements of Companies House, be 
noted.

61.  Midland Metro Limited Accounts 2019/20
The committee considered a report outlining the annual accounts of Midland 
Metro Ltd for the financial year ended 31 March 2020. It was noted that the 
audit process had been completed, and the auditors had issued an 
unqualified audit opinion on the accounts and were filed with Companies 
House on 17 February 2021. It was recognised that future approval of 
Midland Metro Ltd accounts would be required by the committee and that a 
process had been put into place to ensure that agreed assurance 
arrangements for the company were met. 

Sean Farnell sought further information on turnover and how profit was 
derived. The Director of Finance explained the clauses outlined within the 
contract between the subsidiary and the WMCA whereby any profit made 
would go towards financial plans around extension schemes and the Metro 
network. She also confirmed that income essentially was driven from ticket, 
advertising and marketing revenue. 

Resolved:

(1) The annual accounts for Midland Metro Ltd for the year ended 31 
March 2020 be noted.

(2) It be noted that the independent auditors issued an unqualified audit 
opinion for the accounts on 9 December 2020.

(3) That Midland Metro Ltd’s accounts were filed with Companies House 
on 17 February 2021 be noted. 

(4) That Midland Metro Ltd’s accounts would in future be approved by 
ARAC prior to submission to Companies House.  

Page 4



Page 5 of 7

62.  Internal Audit Plan 2021 - 2022
The committee considered the Internal Audit Plan for 2021 - 2022 for 
approval, setting out the range of audit reviews to be undertaken and the 
methodology on how those areas were chosen. The plan was co-produced 
by the WMCA with all directors being consulted as part of the developments 
of the draft risk-based internal audit plan. It was recognised that if any 
changes were made to the plan, the Chair would be informed. 

Sean Farnell commented that he was pleased with the plan presented, which 
offered a good scope of work to be completed. 

Resolved:

The Internal Audit Plan for 2021 - 2022 be approved.  

63.  Internal Audit Update - March 2021
The committee received an update on the work completed by Internal Audit 
for this financial year. It was noted that as this was an additional meeting, 
only one internal audit had been completed and issued, relating to 
Procurement (COVID-19 Response) and that this was given a substantial 
opinion. The Head of Audit also provided an overview of the remainder of 
internal audits to be completed. 

The Chair commented that is was pleasing to see the number of substantial 
and satisfactory reports the committee are seeing.  

Resolved:

The contents of the latest Internal Audit update report be noted. 

64.  Informing the Audit Risk Assessment 2020/21 for West Midlands 
Combined Authority
The committee considered a report from the External Auditors on the risk 
assessment of the WMCA. The risk assessment procedures included 
obtaining an understanding of management processes and the WMCA’s 
oversight of the following areas: General Enquiring of Management, Fraud, 
Laws and Regulations, Related Parties and Accounting Estimates. It was 
recognised that the format of the report had changed due to new guidance. 

Following the Chair’s question regarding timelines for approval of accounts, 
the External Auditor confirmed that approval would likely be sought in July 
with no anticipated earlier sign off due to the complexities around the 
pension fund audit being completed.  

Resolved:

The draft Informing the Audit Risk Assessment 2019/20 report presented by 
Grant Thornton, and the responses provided by management being 
consistent with its understanding, be noted.  

Page 5



Page 6 of 7

65.  Adoption of a Revised Code of Conduct for the Mayor and Members of 
the Combined Authority
The committee considered a report from the Head of Governance and 
Monitoring Officer advising it of the changes recommended to the WMCA 
Code of Conduct following publication of a revised draft Code of Conduct 
from the Local Governement Assiociation. The revised Code of Conduct 
added or or strengthened provisions around bullying and harassment, 
equalities, communication via social media, use of resources, bringing the 
authority into disrepute, compliance with the code of conduct and any 
investigations.  

Councillor June Tandy suggested that once Government had addressed both 
social media and sanctions, a review of the amended code of conduct be 
looked at. The Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer confirmed that he 
was alert to this and would undertake a further review as appropriate. 

Resolved:

The draft revised Code of Conduct be recommended to the WMCA Board for 
adoption. 

66.  Exclusion of the Public and Press
Resolved:

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business as they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
specified in the paragraphs of the Act.

67.  Update on Cyber Security & ICT Processes
The committee considered a report from the Strategic Head of Digital & Data 
on cyber security and ICT processes. It also considered information on the 
Protection of Digital and Data Systems and Information - Acceptable Use 
Policy which set out five main categorises for awareness to provide 
employees of the WMCA with a better understanding. The committee also 
received an in-depth presentation outlining security metrics, trend analysis 
and information on processes, access and systems. 

Resolved: 

(1) The Protection of Digital and Data System and Information - 
Acceptable Use Policy to support the organisation be noted. 

(2) The presentation be noted.

68.  Investigations and Whistleblowing Update
The committee considered a report updating it on the outcomes of any 
recently completed investigations into concerns that had been raised with the 
WMCA, including those through the whistleblowing route. 

Page 6



Page 7 of 7

Resolved:

The contents of the latest Investigations and Whistleblowing Update report 
be noted.

69.  ATG Administration
The committee received a brief update in relation to the administration 
process of the Accessible Transport Group from the Head of Governance 
and Monitoring Officer.

Resolved:

That the update be noted.

70.  Date of Next Meeting
Monday 19 April 2021 at 10.00am

The meeting ended at 12.15 pm.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



WMCA Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee - Forward Plan

Title of Report Date of Meeting Lead Officer

Strategic Risk Register 28 June 2021 Victoria Harman

Internal Audit Report 28 June 2021 Peter Farrow 

Internal Audit Plan 2021 – 2022 28 June 2021 Peter Farrow 

WMCA Audit Findings 28 June 2021 Grant Thornton

Equal Pay Audit & General Equalities 
Update

28 June 2021 Anna Sirmoglou 

Data Security, Data Protection & Lone 
Working Update (Post COVID-19)

28 June 2021 Gurmit Sangha / Ben Gittings 

Recruitment of Independent Member / 
Chair 

28 June 2021 Dan Essex 

Chief Executive of WMCA 28 June 2021 Deborah Cadman

Annual Delivery Plan 28 June 2021 Julia Goldsworthy

WMCA Annual Accounts July 2021 Linda Horne 

Midland Metro Accounts July 2021 Linda Horne

Post COVID-19 Organisation Update July 2021 TBC   

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



An update on the implementation of 
the Single Assurance Framework and 

any lessons learnt

September 2021 Fiona Bebbington 

Data Protection & Data Processing 
Annual Update

September 2021 Gurmit Sangha 

Health & Safety Annual Update September 2021 Pete Bond / Ben Gittings 

P
age 10



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 1 of 12

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 19 April 2021

Report title Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-2021

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, Chief Executive 
Email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7552

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Chief Audit Executive
Email: tim.martin@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Leadership Team 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

(1) Note the contents of the Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-2021.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

mailto:deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
mailto:tim.martin@wmca.org.uk


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 2 of 12

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with an 
annual internal audit opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s 
governance, risk management and internal control processes.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Annual Internal Audit Report summarises the work completed by Internal Audit during 
2020-2021. It also provides an annual audit opinion that based on the work undertaken during 
the year, the implementation by management of the recommendations made and the 
assurance made available to the Combined Authority by other providers as well as directly by 
Internal Audit, Internal Audit can provide reasonable assurance that the Combined Authority 
has adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes.  

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 There are no implications

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no implications.

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no implications.

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no implications.

7.0 Other implications

7.1 Not applicable. 

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 None.

9.0 Appendices 

None 

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 3 of 12

Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-2021

Delivered by City of Wolverhampton Council - Audit Services

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 4 of 12

Introduction

Our internal audit work for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 was carried out in 
accordance with the approved Internal Audit Plan. The plan was constructed in such a way 
as to allow us to make a statement on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined 
Authority’s governance, risk management and control processes. In this way our annual 
report provides one element of the evidence that underpins the opinion of the Chief Audit 
Executive and the Annual Governance Statement the Combined Authority is required to 
make to accompany its annual financial statements. This is only one aspect of the 
assurances available to the Combined Authority as to the adequacy of governance, risk 
management and control processes. Other sources of assurance on which the Combined 
Authority may rely, could include:

 The work of the External Auditors (Grant Thornton)
 The outcome of assurance activity as part of the Single Assurance Framework
 The result of any quality accreditation
 The outcome of any visits by Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC)
 Other pieces of consultancy or third-party work designed to alert the Combined 

Authority to areas of improvement

The definition of internal audit, as described in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
is “Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes”.

Internal audit activity is organisationally independent and further details behind the 
framework within which internal audit operates, can be found in the internal audit charter.

 Overall Assurance
As the providers of internal audit to the Combined Authority, we are required to provide the 
Chief Executive and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s governance, risk management and control 
processes. In giving our opinion, it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. 
The most that Internal Audit can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major 
weaknesses in the Combined Authority’s governance, risk management and control 
processes. We have considered:

 All audits undertaken for the year ended 31 March 2021.
 Any follow-up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods.
 Any key recommendations not accepted by management and the consequent 

risks.
 Any limitations which may have been placed on the scope of internal audit.
 The extent to which any resource constraints may impinge on the ability to meet 

the full audit needs of the Combined Authority.

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 5 of 12

Internal Audit Opinion
We have conducted our audits in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. Within the context of the parameters set out above, our opinion is as follows:

Based on the work undertaken during the year, the implementation by management of the 
recommendations made and the assurance made available to the Combined Authority by 
other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, we can provide reasonable assurance 
that the Combined Authority has adequate and effective governance, risk management and 
internal control processes. 

While the impact of Covid-19 did not adversely impact upon the delivery of the majority of 
the internal audit plan, a small number of amendments were made to incorporate the WMCA 
response to the pandemic. Also, during the year, all of the internal audit work was delivered 
remotely. However, overall this did not impact upon our ability to provide an Annual Audit 
Opinion.

In reaching our opinion, the following factors were taken into particular consideration:

 The need for management to plan appropriate and timely action to implement our 
and other assurance providers’ recommendations. 

 Key areas of significance identified as a result of our audit work performed in year 
are included in a table at the end of this report.

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Internal Audit has a quality assurance and improvement 
programme. During the year, the internal audit activity 
has followed this programme and there have been no 
significant areas of non-conformance or deviations from 
the standards as set out in the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.

Summary of work completed
A detailed written report and action plan is prepared and issued for every review where 
appropriate. The responsible officer will be asked to respond to the report by completing and 
returning the action plan. This response must show what actions have been taken or are 
planned in relation to each recommendation.

Limited Satisfactory Substantial

There is a risk of objectives 
not being met due to serious 
control failings.

A framework of controls is in 
place, but controls need to 
be strengthened further.

There is a robust framework 
of controls which are applied 
continuously. 

Page 15



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 6 of 12

13 pieces of audit work were completed in 2020-2021, where an audit opinion has been 
provided.   A summary of the audit opinions given, with a comparison over previous years, is 
set out below:

Opinion 2019-2020 2020-2021

Substantial 9 9

Satisfactory 4 4 

Limited - -

A summary for each completed audit review is detailed below.

Page 16



Page 7 of 12

Summary of audit reviews completed
The following internal audit reviews were completed during 2019-2020 and have been presented to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee at 
various points throughout the year.

Recommendations
Auditable area AAN

Rating Red Amber Green Total Number 
accepted

Level of assurance

2020-2021 Internal Audit Reviews previously reported

Single Commissioning Framework High - - - - - Substantial

Third Generation Trams Procurement Project 
Management High - 2 3 5 5 Satisfactory

Sprint Programme Management Arrangements High - - 4 4 4 Substantial

Accounts Payable High - 2 - 2 2 Satisfactory

Accounts Receivable High - - - - - Substantial

Budgetary Control High - - - - - Substantial

General Ledger High - - 2 - - Substantial

Payroll High - - - - - Substantial

Treasury Management High - 1 2 3 3 Satisfactory

Human Resources Pre-employment checks N/A - 2 - 2 - N/A

Employee Management (Covid-19 response) High - - - - - Substantial

Environmental Management System High - 1 1 2 2 Satisfactory

Procurement (Covid-19 response) High - - 1 1 1 Substantial

P
age 17



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 8 of 12

Auditable area AAN
Rating

Recommendations

Level of assurance
Red Amber Green Total Number 

accepted

Harvesttime Project Management Arrangements High - - 5 5 5 Substantial

2020-2021 Internal Audit Reviews in progress

Digital Retraining Fund High - 3 1 4 4 Draft report issued 
(satisfactory) 

Commonwealth Games Strategic Transport 
Plan High Fieldwork in progress*

Local Industrial and Economic Strategy High Fieldwork in progress

Risk Management High Fieldwork in progress

Adult Education Budget High Fieldwork in progress

*A joint working approach has been undertaken in liaison with the Commonwealth Games Organising Committee’s Internal Auditors regarding the Integrated 
Transport Plan, working collectively where there is commonality within the audit scopes of both the Organising Committee and the WMCA. Reporting will be 
undertaken independently to each organisation’s respective audit committee.

Summary of individual audits

No reviews were categorised as Limited Assurance. The following reviews were categorised as either Satisfactory or Substantial Assurance. 
A summary of our observations has been included, or the full report appended where appropriate.

Single Commissioning Framework

The WMCA Board approved the Framework in March 2019 to provide a single set of criteria and governance systems for the determination of 
funding applications made by various public and private sector organisations within the West Midlands Region for available devolved WMCA 
Housing, Land and Property Development funds. The Framework is managed by the Housing and Regeneration Directorate. This review focused on 

P
age 18



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 9 of 12

the fund administration processes (processing grant applications and identifying loan opportunities) undertaken by West Midlands Development 
Capital (WMDC) Ltd (a limited company wholly owned by the WMCA) as commissioned fund manager for specific funds that fall within the 
Framework. We were pleased to report that no major issues were identified regarding the administration processes or the associated governance, 
assurance and approval arrangements operated.

Third Generation Trams Procurement Project Management 

Our review focused on the project management arrangements in operation for the delivery of the Third Generation (3G) Tram Procurement 
project. The project involving the delivery of 21 new Trams supports the continued expansion of the Metro Network with new proposed routes 
providing greater connectivity across the region and surrounding areas. Whilst we found core project management arrangements were in 
operation, as further improvements we made two amber rated recommendations regarding project assurance arrangements and change control 
processes. All of our recommendations were accepted.

Sprint Programme Management Arrangements

Sprint is a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) service that is expected to deliver predictable journey times and high frequency, dependable timetables. The 
WMCA Sprint Programme (the Programme) consists of two phases: Phase One - Pre-Commonwealth Games Delivery and Phase Two - Post 
Commonwealth Games Delivery. Our review focused on current and proposed Programme management arrangements and alignment of the 
current Phase One projects (A34 and A45) with programme level arrangements.

We were pleased to report that we found no major issues and identified several areas of good practice on review of the core programme 
management and governance arrangements currently operated as well as proposed developments, prior to progression to full delivery. 

Key Financial Systems Audits

Our review sought assurance on the core controls in operation for the Key Financial Systems. We were pleased to report that no major issues 
were identified, and an overall opinion of substantial was given for the following systems:

 Accounts Receivable
 General Ledger
 Budgetary Control
 Payroll

P
age 19



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 10 of 12

We gave satisfactory assurance in the following areas:

 Accounts Payable
 Treasury Management

While we found for both Accounts Payable and Treasury Management that the majority of core controls were operating effectively with no major 
issues, for Accounts Payable we made two amber rated recommendations regarding supplier bank detail changes and maintaining an audit
trail for approval of payment runs within current remote working arrangements. For Treasury Management we made one amber rated 
recommendation regarding evidencing approvals and separation of duties within remote working arrangements and staffing levels. All of our
recommendations have been accepted.

Human Resources Pre-employment checks 

Part of the testing undertaken for the payroll key financial system audit in 2020 – 2021 included testing of the pre-employment checks undertaken by 
the Human Resource and Organisational Development Team. We identified two issues regarding pre-employment relating to retention of documentary 
evidence of right to work checks and verification of role related qualifications. Suitable and prompt action was agreed by the Team to address these 
issues.

Employee Management (Covid-19 response)

Our review focused on the arrangements for employee management in response to the implications of the Covid-19 pandemic. We were pleased 
to report that we found no major issues, and found several areas of good practice within the ongoing response to Covid-19 which facilitated the 
following:

 Protecting the organisation’s employees
 Communicating effectively in uncertainty
 Maintaining the continuity of work
 Preparing for recovery

Employee management is seen as a core element of the WMCA overall response, led by Human Resources and Organisational Development in 
collaboration with, and as a key member of the Covid-19 Tactical Group established to manage the overall organisational response. We also 
found that the approach and response taken aligned with guidance and best practice advice.

The response also demonstrated a wider consideration of employee health and wellbeing alongside core employee management policy and 
procedure. This was further supported by the establishment of the Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2022 which looks to address the current situation as 

P
age 20



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 11 of 12

well as being forward looking regarding consideration of future working arrangements. As this subject has been of interest to members at recent 
meetings, a copy of the full audit report has also been appended to this progress report for information purposes.

Environmental Management System (EMS)

The WMCA operates an Environmental Management System which provided a framework through which the organisation’s environmental 
performance can be controlled, monitored, and improved. WMCA has chosen accreditation of its EMS through ISO 14001, an internationally 
recognised standard, to demonstrate compliance of its activities and planned programmes to reduce the organisation’s environmental impact.

As required under the external accreditation, we reviewed the Environmental Management System against the core areas within the ISO: context of 
the organisation, leadership, planning, support, operation and performance evaluation and improvement. Collectively the core areas included 186 
clauses against which the assessment was undertaken. 

Based on our assessment against the ISO14001:2015 internal audit checklist, we found that the majority of clauses and therefore core areas were 
suitably addressed by the EMS. We made one amber rated recommendation where improvement could be made to ensure an annual programme of 
site inspections is undertaken going forward. Several factors impacted upon implementation of the programme, most significant being the Covid-19 
pandemic. However, action was being taken to commence remote inspections instead.

Procurement and Supplier Relief (Covid-19 Response)

Our review focused on the arrangements for procurement and supplier relief in response to the implications of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
alignment with the Procurement Practice Notes issued by the Cabinet Office to contracting authorities. We found no major issues, finding several 
areas of good practice and alignment with the procurement, contract and supplier support arrangements advised within the Cabinet Office 
Procurement Policy Notes (PPNs). 

Procurement and contract review, additional assurance arrangements prior to undertaking new procurement activity and supply chain risk 
management and relief measures (including immediate payment terms and payment on profile for critical services) were suitably addressed as 
part of the ongoing response. 

Harvesttime Project Management Arrangements (Housing and Regeneration)

The Harvesttime project is based on derelict brownfield land at the former site of the Harvesttime Bakery which closed in 2012 and consists of the 
construction of a mix of residential units, private rental, and affordable housing. Following approval by the investment board, £1.5m of grant funding 
was made available for the project. The review was undertaken prior to project closure planned for March 2021.

P
age 21



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 12 of 12

We made a number of green rated enhancements and lessons learnt for future projects covering maintaining suitably structured project filing systems 
for key documents, utilising a standardised approach to project reporting and format, maintaining project registers and ensuring stakeholder needs 
analysed and documented more explicitly and planning for project closure. All our recommendations were accepted.

Summary of follow-up reviews completed

The following reviews were completed during 2019-2020 and have been presented to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee at various points 
throughout the year.

Total Number of Original 
Recommendations Implemented OutstandingAuditable area

Red Amber Green Red Amber Green Red Amber Green
Employee Support Pilot (Productivity 
and Skills) - - 1 - - 1 - - -

Construction Retraining Fund - - 1 - - 1 - - -

P
age 22



Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 19 April 2021

Report title Draft Annual Governance Statement

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE Chief Executive
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee

Tim Martin, Head of Governance, Clerk and 
Monitoring Officer 
Email: Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk 
Tel: (0121) 214 7435 

Report has been
considered by

Not Applicable 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to:

(1) Consider the draft Annual Governance statement for ARAC’s approval and inclusion in the 
20/21 annual accounts.  

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk


1. Purpose

The Annual Governance Statement is a statutory document which explains the processes 
and procedures in place to enable WMCA to carry out it’s functions effectively as defined 
by CIPFA.   

The close down of the financial year has not yet been completed and there is a 
possibility that an unknown issue may arise that requires comment or inclusion in this 
statement prior to it’s final approval. 

Final approval of the 2020/21 Annual Governance Statement will be sought as part of 
the process of approving the annual accounts of the WMCA in June 2019.

 

2. Background
West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) is responsible for ensuring that it’s business 
is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. 

The Authority also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are 
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  In 
discharging this overall responsibility, it is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of it’s affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its 
functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.  

WMCA’s governance arrangements are consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE framework of Delivering Good Governance in Local Government, and 
this Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of Regulation 6(1) (b) of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant public bodies 
to prepare an annual governance statement each year. 

The document demonstrates compliance of how WMCA applies the seven core 
principles of good governance as set out in the latest CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government Framework (2016), these being: 
(a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law.
(b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
(c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits.
(d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes.
(e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it.
(f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management.
(g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver 

effective accountability.

The Director of Law and Governance is satisfied that the system of internal assurance is 
robust and providing visibility of risk and reasonable assurance to the Senior Leadership 
Team as detailed in Annual Governance Statement.  

Page 24



3. Financial Implications

Not applicable

4. Legal Implications

Not applicable

5. Equalities Implications

Not applicable.

6. Inclusive Growth Implications

Not applicable.

7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

Not applicable.

8. Other Implications

Not applicable.

9. Schedule of Background Papers

Not applicable.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

2020/2021

Scope of Responsibility

This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) reflects the activities of the Authority from 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021.

The Authority is made up of seven metropolitan district councils, constituent and non-constituent 
members, three Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), six observers and one co-opted member.

The Authority’s Constituent members consist of the seven district councils across the region:
 Birmingham City Council
 City of Wolverhampton Council
 Coventry City Council
 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
 Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council

The non-Constituent members of the Authority are comprised of non-constituent authorities and 
LEP members:

Non-constituent authorities

 Cannock Chase District Council
 North Warwickshire Borough Council
 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
 Redditch Borough Council
 Rugby Borough Council
 Shropshire Council
 Stratford-on-Avon District Council
 Tamworth Borough Council
 Telford and Wrekin Council
 Warwickshire County Council

LEP members

 Black Country LEP
 Coventry and Warwickshire LEP
 Greater Birmingham and Solihull LEP

There are also six Observers of the Authority. These are:

 Warwick District Council
 The Marches LEP
 The Young Combined Authority
 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority
 West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner
 Young Combined Authority

There is one member co-opted to the WMCA Board at the discretion of the WMCA Board.  They are: 
 Trade Union Congress Midlands (TUC)

Page 27



2

The authority currently has seven active Arm’s Length Company relationships; namely

No. Company Name Stake Accounting 
Treatment

a. West Midlands Rail Limited 50% Associate
b. West Midlands Development 

Capital Limited
100% Subsidiary

c. Midland Metro Limited 100% Subsidiary
d. West Midlands Growth 

Company Limited
5.3% Investment

e. WM5G Limited 100% Subsidiary
f. HTO1 LLP 50% Associate

g. HTO2 LLP 50% Associate

For each of the arm’s length companies1 where WMCA owns a 50% or greater share of the 
organisation, an annual assurance and governance checklist has been completed to confirm all 
legal and financial controls have been satisfied. In addition, confirmation of wider assurance and 
governance is approved.

HTO1 LLP is a newly established Limited Liability Partnership incorporated on the 3rd March 2021.  
The members are WMCA and the City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC) both of whom hold 50% 
voting rights.  The business of HTO1 is to carry out the business of HTO2.

HTO2 LLP is a newly established Limited Liability Partnership incorporated on the 3rd March 2021.  
Its members are HTO1, WMCA and CWC.   WMCA & CWC both hold 50% voting rights.  The 
business of HTO2 is the acquisition, development and management of 100 Units at The Marches, 
Wolverhampton for the purpose of providing Affordable Housing with a view to profit and to create 
an affordable home ownership model.

The assurance and governance checklist for both HTO1 and HTO2 is currently being finalised.

WMCA is an enabling body which brings together the political leadership in the region; reinforcing 
and strengthening existing partnership arrangements to help co-ordinate strategic economic 
planning and drive forward inclusive economic growth.

The Purpose of the Governance Framework

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards; that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and delivers value 
for money.

To demonstrate good corporate governance, the Authority carries out its functions in a way that 
provides accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity and inclusivity; enabling the Authority 
to pursue its vision and secure its agreed objectives in the most effective and efficient manner and 
in line with the approved Constitution.

In discharging this overall responsibility, WMCA Leadership Team and Statutory officers are 
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements (known as a Governance Framework) which 
comprises the legislative requirements, systems and processes, cultures and values. This enables 
the Authority to govern its affairs, facilitate the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 

1 With exception to H2O1 LLP and HTO2 LLP which have recently been established.

Page 28



3

arrangements for the management of risk, in addition to exercising leadership and being held 
accountable for its decisions and activities.

The Authority has put in place a system of internal control designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve, aims and objectives and can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of our policies, aims and objectives; and evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised, the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically.

The Authority has a strategic risk register, which is regularly reported to and reviewed by Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee (ARAC) and the WMCA Senior Leadership Team. A new Strategic Risk 
Framework is being developed to provide visibility of risk at strategic, operational, and programme 
levels and to ensure consistency across Directorates in how risks are identified, managed, 
monitored and escalated.  The aim is for an integrated approach to risk management and processes 
will be developed alongside the organisation’s performance management framework as it is being 
developed together with training and support to embed this new approach.

Annual Governance Statement

This Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of Regulation 6(1) (b) of the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant public bodies to prepare an annual 
governance statement.

The Authority demonstrates compliance with the seven core principles of good governance set out 
in the latest CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016).

These seven principles are:
(a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law.
(b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
(c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits.
(d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcomes.
(e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it.
(f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management.
(g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver effective 

accountability.

The Governance Framework

a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rule of law

The Code of Conduct is laid out in the Constitution and was updated in March 2021 following 
the issue of a revised model of the Code of Conduct by the Local Government Association 
(LGA) which incorporates recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life (CSPL); this defines the standards of behavior for Members and officers working on 
behalf of the Combined Authority. 

Following consideration by ARAC the revised code was adopted by the WMCA Board on 
22nd March 2021.  The Director of Law and Governance who is the Monitoring Officer deals 
with issues of conduct and generally promotes high standards among officer, Members and 
the Mayor.  ARAC perform the role of Standards Committee. 

Page 29



4

The Authority embeds standards of conduct and behavior through promoting a culture with 
the values:

Be collaborative
 We work with others to reach common goals
 We are respectful and act with integrity
 We communicate clearly, openly and encourage feedback

Be innovative
 We encourage creativity, originality and curiosity from everyone
 We embrace change, and we are open to new possibilities and exploring new ideas
 We adopt best practices and keep up to date with new developments to enhance our 
work

Be driven
 We have a positive, proactive and a solution-oriented attitude
 We set ourselves high standards and strive to exceed these
 We take ownership for our performance and outcomes

Be inclusive
 We care about and treat each other with dignity and respect
 We create a positive working environment
 We value diversity and consider other people’s viewpoints ensuring no one is 

excluded
 We encourage and support each other

The business of the Authority will also be conducted in accordance with the Seven Principles 
of Public Life identified in The Nolan Committee Report (1995), and defined as selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.

b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

We have established channels of communication with the community and other 
stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open consultation. All formal 
meetings are held in public and reports are in the public domain unless there are good 
reasons for confidentiality in individual cases. 

We incorporate good governance arrangements in our partnerships and reflect these in our 
overall governance arrangements. This has been developed further this year by working 
with the arm’s length companies to confirm assurance and governance arrangements.

We assess the effectiveness of relationship frameworks in order to identify any changes 
required.

Where consultation is required, we adhere to the principles of good consultation of “the 
Gunning Principles” and a variety of measures are used to seek the views of the public.  For 
example, public consultation will be incorporated into any plans where a change to public 
transport policy is being considered.   

c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 
benefits

The Authority ensures the vision and implications for governance arrangement are regularly 
reviewed including the monitoring of its achievement of intended outcomes from social, 
economic, environmental and organisational health perspectives through the budget, 
performance framework, and project delivery process. 

Page 30



5

The Authority is focussed on delivering value for money and success, and in this respect 
reviewed by independent auditors in line with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice and Auditor’s 
Guidance Note AGN03. The results of the Value for Money audit work and the key 
messages arising will be reported in an Audit Findings Report and in the Annual Audit Letter.

Each of these benefit categories are assessed in major project business case submissions. 
The Authority wants to ensure strategically important projects with high benefits for the 
region are progressed.

The Authority is working to achieve the priorities set out in the Devolution Deals that have 
been negotiated with Central Government. The Authority’s purpose and vision are detailed 
in the Strategic Economic plan (SEP), Industrial Strategy, and the Annual Plan. Performance 
against the Devolution Deals will be monitored and assessed throughout 2021/22. A 
Gateway review challenge session in respect of the first Devolution Deal took place in 
January 2021with SLT being joined by MHCLG to discuss the approach the CA had taken 
with the Investment Programme, consider projects in delivery and identify improved ways of 
joint working.  

To ensure the purpose and vision of the Authority is clear and well communicated, an annual 
update of the Annual Business Plan and Delivery outlines the Authority’s activities and 
achievements. This was presented to WMCA Board in September 2020.

d)   Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the intended 
outcomes

The Authority works closely with the relevant Government Departments, local and national 
stakeholders and constituent and non-constituent authorities to determine the necessary 
actions to achieve these priorities.

Senior Leadership Team oversees the corporate decision-making process and reports are 
considered at an appropriate level of the organisation in accordance with the provisions of 
the Constitution.

Corporate strategic decisions are primarily taken at meetings of the WMCA Board, although 
Investment Fund decisions up to the value of £20m are delegated to the Investment Board. 
Other thematic Boards have roles as set out under the Strategic Assurance Framework 
(SAF) in terms of overseeing and reviewing project initiation and delivery. This includes 
reviewing progress of outcomes against delivery plans.

e)   Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it

We have defined and documented in our Constitution the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board, Scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and protocols for 
effective communication. As the Authority develops, we are reviewing our governance 
arrangements and the Constitution to ensure they remain fit for purpose in a growing 
organisation. A scheme of delegation is laid out in the Constitution.  In July 2020 the WMCA 
Board approved the revised Single Assurance Framework which has also been signed off 
by MHCLG.

The collective and individual roles and responsibilities of the Senior Leadership Team, 
Members and officers is well established and to support our ambition to become an agile, 
and high performing workforce, our approach to performance has been refreshed in line with 
our Re-set and Re-build programme.  Our new performance management framework will 
enable us to build on our strengths and focus everything we do.  Our behavioural framework 
will be fundamental to our performance framework and will align to our goals – helping us 
to focus on what we do and how we do things.  This will facilitate how we develop a culture 

Page 31



6

that supports us all to be diverse, inclusive, innovative and proud to be part of the Combined 
Authority. 

We identify and aim to address the development needs of members and officers in relation 
to their roles and support with appropriate induction and training.  In 2020/21 a considerable 
portion of the training budget was spent on the leadership of the organisation. Specifically 
in 2020/21, ARAC members received finance training to allow them to understand financial 
accounts, financial reporting arrangements and WMCA’s Treasury Management Strategy 
and practices.  

Training requirements for 2021/22 will be reviewed following ARAC in June.  Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairs and leading Members have also participated in external training 
and events. 

f)   Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management

Risk management continues to be embedded in the culture; accountabilities and 
responsibilities defined within roles, and with processes determining ways of working, 
managing and reporting risk. This continues to evolve, and steps are being undertaken to 
improve the process across the organization with the new Strategic Risk Framework that is 
being presented to SLT in June 2021. WMCA risk appetite for the 6 recognised risk 
categories has been reconfirmed by Senior Leadership Team for 2020/21.

The Authority ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures. We are rigorous and transparent about decision making and the recording of 
decisions. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews and challenges the work and 
decisions of the Authority with policy review and development.

ARAC is independent of the executive and scrutiny function; it has an independent, external 
Chair. They monitor and review risk and governance processes, and results, in order to 
provide assurance to the WMCA Board on their effectiveness. Appropriate controls are in 
place for arms-length companies and as good practice external auditors have been 
appointed for West Midlands Rail Limited, Midland Metro Limited, WM5G Limited and West 
Midlands Development Capital Ltd. 

Internal Audit provides the ‘third line of defence’ with the first line being policies, procedures 
and controls, and the second being managers’ own checks of the control environment, along 
with independent programme assurance activities undertaken as part of the Single 
Assurance Framework. Professional advice and good quality information is provided to 
ensure those making decisions are provided with relevant information that is fit for purpose. 

A new Single Assurance Framework was approved by WMCA Board in July 2020.  This 
enhanced the previous document ensuring a consistent and proportionate approach to 
initiation, development and approval of projects and programmes with robust processes.  This 
supports good governance with enhanced assurance tools and appraisal of projects, including 
identification of risks and issues of the project and the investment and how they are managed, 
reviewed, and escalated.  The new assurance framework has been expanded to include 
assurance requirements for the new and proposed devolution deals and was approved by 
Ministry of Housing, DfT, DoE, and Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and is 
aligned to the National Single Pot Assurance Guidance.

The Single Assurance Framework implementation has been supplemented by the 
introduction of the reviewed governance arrangements to support Investment Programme 
decision making in the form of an Investment Panel and Investment Board. There are clear 
Terms of Reference for these groups and training has been provided to the members of 

Page 32



7

these groups to support the undertaking of their roles and to understand the risks around 
these proposals. The introduction of the Assurance Toolkit and Risk & Investment Appraisal 
process review of project business cases through the Single Assurance Framework 
systematically seeks confidence and evidence for potential risks. 

In 2020 the majority of the Authority’s key financial audits received a ‘substantial’ internal 
audit outcome.

g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 
accountability 

The Authority has begun implementation of the WMCA Assurance Framework which was 
approved by MHCLG (previously Department of Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG)) in July 2020.

We continue to maintain close links with all relevant Government Departments and have 
regular conversations regarding issues including funding, delivery and devolution 
objectives. 

The Authority has a monitoring officer who sits on both the Senior Leadership Team and 
attends the WMCA Board meetings to ensure all of our activity is legal. Our high level of 
Governance standards includes the publishing of agendas, minutes and reports in the public 
domain and only limited use of confidential reporting. The 2021/22 internal audit plan was 
approved at ARAC’s March 2021 meeting.

A checklist has been implemented for the arm’s length companies of the Authority to 
ascertain confidence in governance and assurance arrangements. This action came out of 
the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee, to develop a checklist of questions that would 
provide a consistent mechanism of assurance to the Committee that could provide overall 
assurance on all the Authority’s activities. All relationships are reviewed at least once per 
year.

Arrangements are in place for “whistleblowing” and “counter-fraud” for receiving and 
investigating complaints from both officers and members of the public. Any issues raised 
are considered by the Monitoring Officer in conjunction with Internal Audit and reported to 
the ARAC Chair.

The Opinion of the Director of Law and Governance 2020/21

CIPFA (The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy) defines the role of Governance 
and the Chief Financial Officer as follows:

 Governance is defined as “The arrangements in place to ensure that an organisation fulfils its 
overall purpose, achieves its intended outcomes for citizens and service users, and operates 
in an economical, effective, efficient and ethical manner” and;

 The Chief Financial Officer is “The organisation’s most senior executive role charged with 
leading and directing financial strategy and operations.”

These statements have been confirmed and agreed by the Director of Law and Governance and 
the Finance Director respectively.

The Director of Law and Governance is satisfied that the system of internal assurance is robust and 
providing visibility of risk and reasonable assurance to the Senior Leadership Team. 

The opinion is based on the results of an on-going programme of activities and review, the outcomes 
of which were considered by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. Activities include:

Page 33



8

a) External audit
b) Internal audit
c) The Risk Management Process, particularly the Strategic Risk Register
d) Performance information
e) Assurance

During 2020/21, the audit of Budgetary Control and three other ‘key financial systems’ audits were 
given ‘substantial’ rating by internal audit and 100% ‘Green’ in terms of its recommendations, whilst 
a ‘Satisfactory’ level was achieved for Treasury Management and Accounts Payable. WMCA’s 
response to Covid 19 Procurement and Supplier relief, and Employee management arrangements 
were both rated substantial with 100% green recommendations and 1 amber recommendation was 
identified for the Environment Management systems. No audit recommendations were flagged as 
‘red’ where imperative action is required.  This demonstrates the continued effectiveness of systems 
and processes supporting audit, risk and governance. 

As agreed by WMCA Board in July 2020, the first projects and programmes to transition to the new 
Single Assurance Framework would be the Investment Programme. This would allow a phased and 
managed transition of projects and programmes onto the new assurance arrangements. There are 
broadly three areas within a project lifecycle that are supported by the new assurance Framework, 
- Initiation, Development and Approvals.  The new Approvals stage went live in September 2020 
with the Investment Panel; any proposal and/or Business Case that requires Investment Board and 
WMCA Board approval will first be considered at the Investment Panel.  From November 2020 to 
March 2021, 5 Business Case relating to major projects in the Investment Programme have been 
appraised in accordance with the new assurance arrangements. In addition, 5 Change Requests 
have also been appraised. A commitment has been made by the Senior Leadership Team that the 
Single Assurance Framework disciplines will be rolled out across all portfolio areas in the near 
future.

Progress of the 2020/21 Annual Business Plan was monitored on a monthly basis by internal 
management teams with key risks impacting on its delivery, being escalated to the directorate risk 
registers. In addition, delivery against performance of the High Level Deliverables within the Annual 
Plan was reported monthly to SLT and quarterly to WMCA Board.  In 2021/22 the annual planning 
process is being revised with closer links between the strategic objectives and business plans. 

Regular risk management review meetings are now in place across all the Authority’s activities 
including all directorates to enable full visibility of key risks having the potential to impact on the 
organisation. Risk Management and Performance Management is intended to be brought together 
to provide a strong evidence base to substantiate the risk assumptions.

Operational Risk Registers are in place within directorates which feed into the WMCA Strategic Risk 
Register.  There are regular meetings in place with both the management team of each business 
area and the Strategy Director to monitor the status of risks and to ascertain the level of risk 
exposure in each of these areas to determine the assurance conclusions.  Additionally, the Strategic 
Risk Register is reviewed by Senior Leadership Team on a quarterly basis. 

The Authority has set itself a demanding programme of work and is ambitious for itself and the 
benefits that it hopes to bring to the region. It has been successful in negotiations for a second 
Devolution Deal and has recruited an able team of experienced professionals to form the leadership 
team. There is significant pressure on resources however, particularly in matching staff resources 
to the tasks in hand and this is being carefully monitored by the Authority and a plan in place to 
mitigate these pressures accordingly. 

The last year has seen an unprecedented challenge in the shape of the Covid19 pandemic. This has 
affected every area of life in the UK and clearly these issues have affected the Combined Authority 
as with others. Through agile working and the implementation of our corporate resilience 
arrangements we have been able to continue to manage workloads and delivery. We have worked 
with public transport providers to ensure that appropriate measures are in place to safeguard the 
public. We have taken a key role in regional response and recovery arrangements and are leading 
work to ensure that the economic recovery of the west Midlands is put on a secure footing. Through 

Page 34



9

the use of remote meeting technology, we were able to ensure the continuation of political meetings 
and decision-making and controls have remained robust as the audits referred to above show. 

Conclusion

In undertaking the review of internal control and governance framework, the Authority is satisfied 
the systems of internal control that facilitate the effective exercise of the organisation’s functions are 
in place and that all issues raised through the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee have been 
appropriately addressed and actions have been assigned an appropriate owner. 

On behalf of the West Midlands Combined Authority

Andy Street

Mayor and Chair of the West Midlands Combined Authority

Date:

Deborah Cadman

Chief Executive

Date:

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - 4 March 2021
	Minutes

	6 Forward Plan
	7 Internal Audit Annual Report 2020 - 2021
	8 Draft Annual Governance Statement
	Annual Governance Statement 1


